Montana Department of Commerce Community Development Division Minimum Housing Rehabilitation and Property Standards

TABLE OF CONTENTS

l.	Preface
II.	Definitions4
III.	Minimum Standards for Basic Equipment and Facilities4
IV.	Minimum Standards for Ventilation8
V.	Minimum Standards for Electrical Service8
VI.	Minimum Standards for Heating Systems9
VII.	Minimum Standards for the Interiors of Structures11
VIII.	Minimum Standards for the Exterior of Structures11
IX.	Minimum Space, Use, and Location Requirements12
Х.	Minimum Standards for Plumbing Systems12
XI.	Minimum Standards for Potable Water Supply13
XII.	Minimum Standards for Connection to Sanitary Sewer13
XIII.	Lead-Based Paint13
XIV.	Accessibility14
XV.	Uniform Physical Condition Standards14
XVI.	Disaster Mitigation19
XVII.	Capital Needs Assessment19
XVIII.	New Building Design Requirements20

I. Preface

This document is intended to provide the minimum acceptable standards for existing multi-family household dwelling units rehabilitated in whole or in part with Housing Trust Fund (HTF) program funds in Montana. Any reference in this document to "rehabilitation" is meant to include rehabilitation of existing housing and redevelopment of existing non-residential building(s) which create new multifamily rental housing. These standards are not intended to reduce or exclude the requirements of any local or state building or housing codes, standards, or ordinances that may apply. In the event of any conflicting code(s), the more restrictive code(s) will apply. Housing rehabilitated with HTF assistance must meet all applicable State and local codes, ordinances, and requirements or, in the absence of a State or local building code, the International Existing Building Code of the International Code Council.

These standards were designed to assist in achieving consistency throughout the state for all rehabilitation activities funded with HTF funds. These standards explicitly describe the work required to address health and safety issues (Sections III - XVI); major systems (Sections III- XII & XV); lead-based paint (Section XIII); accessibility (Section XIV); disaster mitigation (Section XVI); state and local codes, ordinances and zoning requirements (Sections III – XVI); and the Uniform Physical Condition Standards (Section XV). The Montana standards require that a licensed architect or engineer be responsible for the evaluation, design and oversight of all rehabilitation projects.

These standards assume that a knowledgeable inspector, such as a licensed professional architect or engineer, will thoroughly inspect each dwelling to verify the presence and condition of all components, systems, and equipment within the dwelling. All components, systems, and equipment of a dwelling referenced in this document shall be in good working order and condition and be capable of being used for the purpose for which they were intended and/or designed. Components, systems and/or equipment that are not in good working order and condition shall be repaired or replaced. When it is necessary to replace items (systems, components, or equipment), the replacement items must conform to these standards. These standards also assume that the inspector will consider any extraordinary circumstances of the occupants of the dwelling (e.g., physical disabilities) and reflect a means to address such circumstances in their inspection and in the preparation of project specifications for that dwelling.

All interior ceilings, walls, and floors must not have any serious defects such as severe bulging or leaning, large holes, loose surface materials, severe buckling, missing components or other serious damage. The roof must be structurally sound and weather-resistant. All exterior walls (including foundation walls) must not have any serious defects such as leaning, buckling, sagging, large holes, or defects that may result in the structure not being weather-resistant or that may result in air infiltration or vermin infestation. The condition of all interior and exterior stairs, halls, porches, walkways, etc. must not present a danger of tripping or falling.

If an inspector (i.e. professional architect or engineer) determines that the specific individual standards of this document cannot be achieved on any single dwelling due to it being structurally impossible and/or cost prohibitive, the inspector shall document the specific item(s) as non-conforming with these standards. The inspector shall prepare, for the Montana Department of Commerce's (Commerce) consideration, a list of any and all non-conforming items along with the recommendation to waive, or not to waive, the individual non-conforming items. Any waiver of non-conforming items is at the sole discretion of Commerce. Items necessary to meet HUD Uniform Physical Conditions Standards may not be waived.

Rehabilitation projects (including redevelopment) must address any and all deficiencies identified in Section XV of this Property Standards document as part of the project's scope of work so that, upon completion, all such deficiencies are cured. For projects which include acquisition and/or rehabilitation of occupied housing, any life threatening health and safety deficiencies, as defined in Section XV, must be addressed and corrected immediately.

Energy Star rated systems, components, equipment, fixtures and appliances are required.

II. Definitions

- **A. Egress** A permanent and unobstructed means of exiting from the dwelling in an emergency escape or rescue situation.
- **B.** Habitable Space (Room) Space (rooms) within the dwelling for living, sleeping, eating, or cooking. Bathrooms, toilet rooms, closets, halls, storage, or utility spaces, and similar areas (rooms) are not considered habitable spaces (rooms).
- **C. Energy Star Rated** Includes all systems, components, equipment, fixtures, and appliances that meet strict energy efficiency performance criteria established, as a joint effort, by the federal Environmental Protection Agency, the U.S. Department of Energy, and the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development and that carry the Energy Star label as evidence of meeting the criteria.
- **D. Building Envelope:** Defined as the air barrier and thermal barrier separating exterior from interior space.
- **E. Major Systems:** Include, but not limited to, structural support, roofing, cladding, weatherproofing, plumbing, electrical, and HVAC.
- **F. Moderate Rehabilitation** Defined as rehabilitation improvements that do not alter major systems or the building envelope.
- **G. Multifamily (MF)** Defined as any project or Dwelling Unit (DU) where the occupant(s) are renters and do not own the property. Multifamily projects may include single family homes, duplexes, townhomes, elevator-type buildings, multi-storied buildings, etc. Please contact HTF staff for clarification, if needed.
- **H. Redevelopment** Defined as the conversion of a non-residential structure into rental housing for extremely low income households.
- **I. Single Family (SF)** Defined as single family homes, duplexes and townhomes where the occupant owns the dwelling and the project is administered through Minnesota Housing's Single Family Division.
- J. Substantial or 'Gut' Rehab Defined as a project that involves extensive (substantial) rehabilitation in terms of total removal and replacement of all interior (non-structural) systems, equipment, components or features of the existing structure. Gut rehabilitation may also include structural and nonstructural modifications to the exterior of the structure.

III. Minimum Standards for Basic Equipment and Facilities

Required Rehabilitation Activities: In addition to remediation of any deficiencies resulting from property assessment required by local, state, and federal regulations, rehabilitation activities shall include the following:

- 1. Any environmental remediation triggered by the rehabilitation project (for example, mitigation of lead-based paint, hazardous or explosive facilities, radon, or asbestos) in accordance with applicable federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances.
- 2. Conduct mold and/or water infiltration mitigation, if mold or water infiltration is observed during the Assessment. Any moldy materials that cannot be properly cleaned must be removed.
- 3. U.L. approved smoke detection in all locations as required for new construction. At least one smoke detector must

be hardwired (preferably located near sleeping rooms).

- 4. GFCI receptacle protection in locations required for new construction.
- 5. Carbon Monoxide detection.
- 6. Replace older obsolete products and appliances (such as windows, doors, lighting, water heaters, furnaces, boilers, air conditioning units, refrigerators, clothes washers and dishwashers) with Energy Star-qualified products. Water efficient toilets, showers, and faucets, such as those with the WaterSense label, must be installed.
- 7. If gut rehabilitation (i.e. general replacement of the interior of a building that may or may not include changes to structural elements such as flooring systems, columns, or load bearing interior or exterior walls), housing shall comply with Rehabilitation requirements as described herewith and applicable New Building Design requirements (see Part XVIII., below).

NOTE: An estimate based on age and condition of the remaining useful life of major systems is required upon project completion. If the remaining useful life of any major system is less than the period of affordability established for HTF projects, a replacement reserve must be established which includes adequate monthly payments to repair or replace systems as needed.

A. Kitchens – Every dwelling shall have a kitchen room or kitchenette equipped with the following:

- 1. **Kitchen Sink.** The dwelling shall have a kitchen sink, connected to both hot and cold potable water supply lines under pressure and to the sanitary sewer waste line. When replacing such components, water supply shut off valves shall be installed.
- **2. Oven and Stove or Range.** The dwelling shall contain an oven and a stove or range (or microwave oven) connected to the source of fuel or power, in good working order and capable of supplying the service for which it is intended.
- **3. Refrigerator.** The dwelling shall contain a refrigerator connected to the power supply, in good working order and capable of supplying the service for which it is intended.
- **4. Counter Space Area.** Every kitchen or kitchenette shall have an adequate storage area. Every kitchen or kitchenette shall have adequate counter space.
- **B.** Toilet Room: Every dwelling shall contain a room which is equipped with a flush toilet and a lavatory. The flush water closet shall be connected to the cold potable water supply, under pressure, and to the sanitary sewer system. The lavatory shall be connected to both a hot and cold potable water supply, under pressure, and connected to the sanitary sewer system. When replacing such components, water supply shut-off valves shall be installed.
- **C. Bath Required:** Every dwelling shall contain a bathtub and/or shower.
 - 1. The bathtub and/or shower unit(s) need not be located in the same room as the flush water closet and lavatory. The bathtub and/or shower unit may be in a separate room.
 - 2. The bathtub and/or shower unit shall be connected to both hot and cold potable water supply lines, under pressure, and shall be connected to the sanitary sewer system. Where feasible, shut off valves shall be installed on the water supply lines. All faucets, when replaced, shall be water

balancing scald guard type faucets.

- **D. Privacy in Room(s) Containing Toilet and/or Bath:** Every toilet room and/or every bathroom (the room or rooms containing the bathtub and/or shower unit) shall be contained in a room or rooms that afford privacy to a person within said room or rooms. Every toilet room and/or bathroom shall have doors equipped with a privacy lock or latch in good working order.
- **E. Hot Water Supply:** Every dwelling shall have supplied water-heating equipment (water heater and hot water supply lines) that is free of leaks, connected to the source of fuel or power, and is capable of heating water to be drawn for general usage.
 - 1. No atmospheric water heaters shall be allowed in a confined space. No water heaters shall be allowed in the toilet rooms, bathrooms, bedrooms, or sleeping rooms. No gas water heaters shall be allowed in a clothes closet.
 - 2. All gas water heaters shall be vented in a safe manner to a chimney or flue leading to the exterior of the dwelling. Unlined brick chimneys must have a metal liner installed to meet manufacturer's venting requirements. If metal chimney venting cannot be added, a power vented water heater may be installed. Install according to manufacturer's specifications.
 - 3. All water heaters shall be equipped with a pressure/temperature relief valve possessing a full-sized (non-reduced) approved discharge pipe to within six (6) inches of the floor. The discharge pipe shall not be threaded at the discharge end.
 - 4. All water heaters must be installed to manufacturer's installation specifications.
 - 5. Replacement water heaters shall meet Energy Star requirements at the time of installation.
 - 6. Where feasible, tankless water heaters may be installed in accordance with manufacturer's guidelines and sized to provide adequate hot water supply to all fixtures. Gas supply lines and/or electrical capacity must be evaluated before installing tankless water heaters. Before installing, careful consideration should be made regarding supply and water temperature to owners.
- **F. Exits:** Every exit from every dwelling shall comply with the following requirements:
 - 1. Every habitable room shall have two (2) independent and unobstructed means of egress. This is normally achieved through an entrance door and an egress window.
 - 2. All above grade egress windows from habitable rooms shall have a net clear opening of 5.7 square feet. The minimum net clear opening width dimension shall not be less than twenty inches (20") wide, and the minimum net clear opening height dimension shall not be less than twenty-four inches (24") wide. Note that the combination of minimum window width and minimum window height opening size does not meet the 5.7 square feet requirements. Therefore, the window size will need to be greater than the minimum opening sizes in either width or height. Where windows are provided as a means of escape or rescue, they shall have a finished sill height of not more than forty-eight inches (48") above the floor in basements. Egress windows with a finished sill height of more than forty-eight inches (48") shall have a permanently installed step platform that is in compliance with stair construction standards.

All at-grade egress windows from habitable rooms may be reduced in size to 5.0 square feet of operable window area, but the area must meet the minimum width and height requirements of all

egress windows.

When windows are being replaced within existing openings, the existing window size shall be determined to be of sufficient size even if current window sizes do not meet current egress standards. However, if the specification writer determines that changing the window size is beneficial; such egress window size modification will be allowed, but not required. If new construction windows are being installed, these windows must meet all egress window requirements (for example, if adding on to existing building in a rehabilitation or redevelopment).

- 3. In habitable basements (or habitable rooms within a basement) where one means of egress is a window, the window shall have a net clear opening of 5.0 square feet. The window shall open directly to the street or yard or, where such egress window has a finished sill height that is below the adjacent ground elevation, shall have an egress window/area well. The egress window/area well shall provide a minimum accessible net clear opening of nine square feet that includes a minimum horizontal dimension of thirty-six inches (36") from the window. Egress window/area wells with a depth of more than forty-four (44") shall be equipped with an affixed ladder, stairs or platform according to local code that are accessible with the window in the fully opened position. Such ladder will have rungs at 12 inches on-center and projecting out a minimum of three inches from the side of the window well.
- **G. Stairs:** If replacing existing stairs, stairs will need to conform as close as possible to new construction standards, but replacement stairs do not need to be in compliance with new codes. All newly constructed stairs (interior and exterior stairways) shall comply with the following requirements and local code requirements:
 - 1. All stairways and steps of four (4) or more risers shall have at least one (1) handrail. All stairways and steps which are five (5) feet or more in width shall have a handrail on each side.
 - 2. All handrails shall be installed not less than thirty-four inches (34") nor more than thirty-eight inches (38"), measured plumb, above the nosing of the stair treads. Handrails adjacent to a wall shall have a space of not less than one and one-half inches (1 1/2") between the wall and the handrail. All handrails shall be turned back into the wall on railing ends. The size of a round railing must be a minimum of 1.25 inches, but not more than 2 inches. Railings must be continuous from the top riser to the bottom riser.
 - 3. Porches, balconies, decks, or raised floor surfaces, including stairway riser and/or landing, located more than thirty (30) inches above the floor or the grade, shall have guardrails installed that are not less than thirty-six inches (36") in height. Open guardrails and stair railings shall have intermediate rails or ornamental pattern such that a sphere four inches (4") in diameter cannot pass through.
 - 4. All stairs and steps shall have a riser height of not more than eight inches (8") and a tread depth of not less than nine inches (9'). All newly constructed stairs, not replacement stairs, shall have a riser height of not more than seven and three quarters (7 3/4") and a tread depth of not less than ten inches (10"). Risers and treads cannot be different in size by more than 3/8 of an inch from the top to the bottom of the stairs.
- **H. Smoke Detectors:** All smoke detectors shall be dual sensor detectors. They shall be hard-wired with battery back-up and interconnected with all other alarms. Smoke detectors shall be located as follows:
 - 1. On the ceiling or wall outside of each separate sleeping area in the immediate vicinity of bedrooms.
 - 2. In each room used for sleeping purposes, and

- 3. In each story within a dwelling unit, including basements but not including crawl spaces and uninhabitable attics. In dwellings or dwelling units with split levels and without an intervening door between the adjacent levels, a smoke alarm installed on the upper level shall suffice for the adjacent lower level if the lower level is less than one full story below the upper level.
- 4. All smoke detectors shall be installed per manufacturer's installation instructions.
- Carbon Monoxide Detectors: Where a heating system source, other than solid fuel burning appliances (e.g., wood stoves), and/or water heater that burns solid, liquid or gaseous fuels is located horizontally adjacent to any habitable room, a hard-wired with battery back-up carbon monoxide detector is required and is to be installed per the manufacturer's instructions. Any dwelling that has a fuel source heating system (not electric), other solid fuel burning appliances (e.g., wood stoves, pellet, or corn stoves), and/or fuel source water heater (not electric), a hard-wired with battery back-up combination smoke alarm/carbon monoxide detector is required to be installed per the manufacturer's instructions on the main living area floor.

IV. Minimum Standards for Ventilation

- **A.** In general, sufficient ventilation shall be present to ensure adequate air circulation in the dwelling.
- **B.** Bathrooms, including toilet rooms, shall be provided with an exhaust fan. If it is being installed or replaced, it shall be rated at a minimum of 60 CFM and 4 sones or less. Fans shall have insulated ducting vented to the exterior. A fan needs to be installed if there is no window or a non-operable window is present.

V. Minimum Standards for Electrical Service

A. Minimum Electrical Service: Every dwelling unit, at a minimum, shall have a 100-ampere breaker controlled electrical panel. All electrical work shall be in compliance with adopted State electrical code requirements. The panel, service mast, etc. shall also be installed to local utility company requirements.

B. Convenience Outlets:

- 1. Every habitable room within the dwelling shall contain at least two (2) separate duplex, wall-type electrical outlets. Placement of such outlets shall be on separate walls. All newly installed receptacles shall be grounded duplex receptacles or GFCI protected.
- 2. All electrical outlets used in bathrooms and toilet rooms, all outlets within six foot (6'-0") of a water source (excluding designated simplex equipment circuits for clothes washing machines and sump pumps), outlets located on open porches or breezeways, exterior outlets, outlets located in garages and in non-habitable basements, except those electrical outlets that are dedicated appliance outlets. All kitchen receptacles serving the countertop area shall be ground fault circuit interrupter (GFCI) protected. All exterior receptacles shall be covered by a receptacle cover that when a cord is plugged in, the GFCI outlet will stay covered and protected.
- 3. All accessible knob and tube, unsafe, and/or illegal wiring shall be removed and replaced with type NM cable (Romex) or as required by code.
- 4. All broken, damaged or nonfunctioning switches or outlets shall be replaced. All fixtures and wiring shall be adequately installed to ensure safety from fire so far as visible components are observed.
- 5. All missing or broken switch and outlet covers (including junction boxes) shall be replaced. Each

receptacle or switch located on an exterior wall shall have a foam seal placed under the cover.

C. Lighting:

- 1. Every habitable room and every bathroom (including toilet room), laundry room, furnace or utility room, and hallway shall have at least one (1) ceiling or wall-type electric light fixture, controlled by a remote wall switch. Habitable rooms (except kitchens or kitchenettes) may have a wall-type electrical outlet controlled by a remote wall switch in lieu of a ceiling or wall-type light fixture. Energy efficient fixtures that meet energy star ratings and compact florescent bulb equivalent or better shall be installed in all new fixture instillations.
- 2. All stairwells shall have at least one light fixture controlled by a remote wall switch at the top and bottom of the stairs.
- 3. Porcelain type fixtures with pull chains are acceptable for use in basements (except for the one controlled by a remote wall switch) cellars, and attics.
- 4. All pendant type lighting fixtures that are supported only by the electrical supply wire shall be removed or replaced. If replaced, replace with Energy Star rated fixtures.

VI. Minimum Standards for Heating Systems

- **A. Heating System:** All heating systems (and central air-conditioning systems where they exist) shall be capable of safely and adequately heating (or cooling as applicable) for all living space.
- **B.** Cooling System: Non-working or improperly functioning central air conditioning systems may be replaced as part of the rehabilitation work. The installation of a central air conditioning system, where it currently does not exist, is permissible where feasible and practical. New A/C installation will not be a priority unless project funds are available.

C. Requirements for Heating and or Cooling Systems:

- 1. All existing heating systems, including but not limited to, chimneys and flues, cut-off valves and switches, limit controls, heat exchangers, burners, combustion and ventilation air, relief valves, drip legs and air, hot water, or steam delivery components (ducts, piping, etc.) that are not being replaced, shall be inspected to be in a safe and proper functioning condition at the time of inspection, by means of written project file documentation.
- 2. Every heating system burning solid, liquid or gaseous fuels shall be vented in a safe manner to a chimney or flue leading to the exterior of the dwelling. The heating system chimney and/or flue shall be of such design to assure proper draft and shall be adequately supported.
- 3. No heating system source burning solid, liquid or gaseous fuels shall be located in any habitable room or bathroom, including any toilet room.
- 4. Every fuel burning appliance (solid, liquid or gaseous fuels) shall have adequate combustion air and ventilation air. All new furnaces will have sealed combustion with combustion air brought in from the exterior of the house and installed in accordance with manufacturer's guidelines.
- 5. Every heat duct, steam pipe and hot water pipe shall be free of leaks and shall function such that an adequate amount of heat is delivered where intended. All accessible duct joints must be sealed

with mastic or any other acceptable product. Newly installed ductwork must also be sealed. All accessible steam piping and hot water piping must be installed with an approved material.

- 6. Every seal between any of the sections of the heating source(s) shall be air-tight so that noxious gases and fumes will not escape into the dwelling.
- 7. No space heater shall be of a portable type.
- 8. Minimum requirements for forced air furnaces, when installed, will be no less than a 92% AFUE, or the minimum AFUE, if greater than 92%, to obtain a local utility rebate (Energy Star rated for northern climates). A digital programmable thermostat must be installed. Condensate lines will drain to a floor drain or have a condensate pump installed and piped to discharge. All furnace ductwork shall be equipped with an air filter clean out location that has a tight fitting cover installed over it.
- 9. All boilers, when replaced, will have an "A" rating and be no less than 90% AFUE rating. All combustion air will be from the exterior of the house. The addition of zone valves may be useful to reduce energy cost. Heat lines shall be insulated with approved material. Programmable thermostats will be installed.
- 10. A/C units, if added or replaced, shall not be less than 14.5 SEER or the lowest SEER rating that is available at the time of installation but not less than 14.5 SEER. All units shall be installed, when possible, on either the north or east side of the dwelling or in an area that will provide shade for the unit. The correct coil will be installed that is compatible with both the furnace and A/C unit. Homeowners who use window air conditioners will be encouraged to purchase Energy Star rated air conditioners. No window A/C units may be purchased with HTF funds.
- 11. All wood, pellet, corn, switch grass, hydrogen, or other biomass fuel stoves must be installed to manufacturer's guidelines. Where such guidelines are not available, the heating unit will be removed. Venting and combustion air must be installed in accordance with manufacturer's requirements.
- **D. Energy Conservation:** All structures shall comply with certain energy conservation measures (U.S. Department of Energy recommendations). These measures include, but are not necessarily limited to, the following:
 - 1. When siding is being replaced and/or interior wall finishes of exterior walls are being replaced on a dwelling, such exterior walls are to be provided with insulation and at the recommended resistance factor (R-value) or R-11, or that which is allowed by the stud cavity space. In addition, an air infiltration barrier, such as Tyvek or approved equal, shall be installed on all exterior walls. If new walls are being framed and insulated, the minimum R factor is R-19 or R-13 plus R-5 foam. The installation of fan-fold foam or foam sheathing may be added to increase household R-ratings.
 - 2. When new windows are to be installed, windows must be current Energy Star rated for northern climates. All rope weight openings will be insulated and all new windows will have the window jamb sealed. Where SHPO requirements will restrict the installation of vinyl windows, the specifications will be written to come as close as possible to achieving Energy Star requirements.
 - 3. All heat ducts and hot water or steam heat distribution piping shall be insulated or otherwise protected from heat loss where such ducts or piping runs are located in unheated spaces. Similarly, distribution piping for general use hot water shall also be protected from heat loss where such

piping is located in unheated spaces. All water distribution piping shall be protected from freezing.

4. Attic access passage ways (scuttle holes) shall be no less than 22" by 30" or the size of original construction. If it is impossible to conform to this standard, the largest attic access hole possible will be installed.

VII. Minimum Standards for the Interior of Structures

A. Interior Walls, Floors, Ceilings, Doors, and Windows:

- 1. All interior walls, floors, ceilings, doors and windows shall be capable of being kept in a clean and sanitary condition by the owner.
- 2. Every bathroom and/or toilet room, kitchen or kitchenette, and utility room floor surface shall be constructed such that they are impervious to water and can easily be kept in a clean and sanitary condition by the owner.
- 3. All interior doors shall be capable of affording the privacy for which they are intended.
- 4. No dwelling containing two or more bedrooms shall have a room arrangement that access to a bathroom, toilet room, or a bedroom can be achieved only by going through another bathroom, toilet room, or another bedroom.
- 5. It is encouraged that all paints, stains, varnishes, lacquers and other finishes used in the rehabilitated dwelling shall be low or no VOC paint finishes and installed as required by the manufacturer.

VIII. Minimum Standards for the Exterior of Structures

A. Foundations, Exterior Walls, Roofs, Soffits and Fascia:

- 1. Every foundation, exterior wall, roof, soffit and fascia shall be made weather resistant. Products for exterior walls, roofs, soffits, and fascia shall be installed in accordance with the manufacturer's guidelines.
- 2. Roof replacement shall be installed in accordance with the manufacturer's requirements. When installing asphalt or fiberglass shingles, a minimum of a 30-year shingle shall be used. Other products such as metal roofing may be considered.

B. Drainage:

- 1. All rainwater shall be conveyed and drained away from every roof so as not to cause wetness or dampness in the structure. No roof drainage systems shall be connected to a sanitary sewer, or directly to a storm sewer system.
- 2. The ground around the dwelling shall be sloped away from foundation walls to divert water away from the structure.
- 3. If feasible, the collection of roof water is encouraged.

C. Windows, Exterior Doors and Basement Entries (Including Cellar Hatchways):

- 1. Every window, exterior door, basement entry and cellar hatchway shall be tight fitting within their frames, be rodent-proof, insect-proof and be weatherproof such that water and surface drainage is prevented from entering the dwelling. In addition, the following requirements shall also be met:
 - a. All exterior doors and windows shall be equipped with security locks. Deadbolts are not required.
 - b. Every window sash shall be fully equipped with glass windowpanes which are without cracks or holes. Every window sash to be replaced shall use Energy Star rated for northern climate windows unless the existing windows have insulated glass. Stained or leaded glass found to be historically significant may be protected by a fixed low-E glass storm window. Every window sash shall fit tightly within its frame, and be secured in a manner consistent with the window design. All window jambs will be sealed. All rope weight openings shall be insulated before installing the new window. Energy Star rated for Northern climate.
 - c. Storm doors, when installed, shall also be equipped with a self-closing device.
 - d. Every exterior door, when closed, shall fit properly within its frame and shall have door hinges and security locks or latches. All exterior doors will be no less than metal clad insulated (foam filled) doors. All jambs and thresholds will be sealed.
 - e. Every exterior door shall be not less than two foot-four inches (2'-4") in width and not less than six foot-six inches (6'6") in height. Existing door sizes will be grandfathered, but an attempt shall be made to have at least one exterior door that is not less than 36 inches wide and no less than 6'-8" high.

IX. Minimum Space, Use, and Location Requirements

- **A.** No cellar space shall be converted to habitable space.
- **B. Habitable Basement Space:** No basement space shall be used as habitable space unless all habitable space requirements are met and all the following requirements are met:
 - 1. The floor and walls are waterproof or damp proof construction.
 - 2. Such habitable space has a hard-surfaced floor of concrete or masonry.
 - 3. Such space shall have a minimum of two exits. In addition to the stairs, this would normally consist of one egress window.

X. Minimum Standards for Plumbing Systems

A. All dwelling plumbing systems shall be capable of safely and adequately providing a water supply and wastewater disposal for all plumbing fixtures. Every dwelling plumbing system shall comply with the following requirements.

- 1. All existing plumbing systems and plumbing system components shall be free of leaks. When repairing or adding to such systems, any type of pipe allowed by the State plumbing code shall be allowed.
- 2. All plumbing system piping shall be of adequate size to deliver water to plumbing fixtures and to convey wastewater from plumbing fixtures (including proper slope of wastewater piping) as designed by the fixture manufacturer).
- 3. All plumbing fixtures shall be in good condition, free of cracks and defects, and capable of being used for the purpose in which they were intended.
- 4. The plumbing system shall be vented in a manner that allows the wastewater system to function at atmospheric pressure and prevents the siphoning of water from fixtures. Venting by mechanical vents is accepted as an alternative to exterior atmospheric venting.
- 5. All fixtures that discharge wastewater shall contain, or be discharged through, a trap that prevents the entry of sewer gas into the dwelling.
- 6. All plumbing system piping and fixtures shall be installed in a manner that prevents the system, or any component of the system, from freezing.
- 7. All plumbing fixtures and water connections shall be installed in such a way as to prevent the backflow of water from the system into the plumbing system's water source.
- 8. Valves shall be installed with the valve in the upright position. When replacing valves, the use of a full port ball-valve shall be encouraged.

XI. Minimum Standards for Potable Water Supply

- **A.** Every dwelling shall be connected to an approved (by the jurisdiction having authority) potable water source.
- B. All potable water fixtures and equipment shall be installed in such a manner as to make it impossible for used, unclean, polluted or contaminated water, mixtures or substances to enter any portion of the potable water system piping. All equipment and fixtures shall be installed with air gaps (traps) to prevent back siphon age. All outlets with hose threads (except those serving a clothes washing machine) shall have a vacuum breaker for use with the application. Any plumbing equipment or fixtures that allow, or appear to allow, the previous conditions, or are otherwise deemed to be unhealthy, unsanitary, or unsafe shall be replaced. No water piping supplied by a private water supply system shall be connected to any other source of water supply without the approval of the jurisdiction having authority over the installation.

XII. Minimum Standards for Connection to Sanitary Sewer

Every dwelling shall be connected to an approved (by the jurisdiction having authority) sanitary sewer system.

XIII. Lead-Based Paint

Housing assisted with HTF funds is subject to the regulations at 24 CFR Part 35, subparts A, B, J, K, and R which govern lead-based paint poisoning prevention in residential structures. Applicants, developers, and builders of any

project requiring the rehabilitation or redevelopment of structures built prior to 1978 must read, fully understand, and comply with 24 CFR Part 35, subparts A, B, J, K, and R.

XIV. Accessibility

Housing assisted with HTF funds must meet the accessibility requirements of 24 CFR Part 8, which implements Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and Titles II and III of the Americans with Disabilities Act, implemented at 28 CFR Parts 35 and 36, as applicable. "Covered multifamily dwellings", as defined at 24 CFR Part 100.201, must also meet the design and construction requirements at 24 CFR Part 100.205, which implements the Fair Housing Act. All projects must meet minimum standards for accessibility [24 CFR, Part 8; 28 CFR, Parts 35 and 36; 24 CFR § 100.205, as applicable; and 24 CFR § 100.205 as applicable]. Rehabilitation projects are encouraged to provide minimum visitability features of at least one zero-step entrance, one first-floor wheelchair accessible half-bathroom, and first-floor door widths of 32 inches or greater.

XV. Uniform Physical Condition Standards

Housing assisted with HTF funds and which are placed in service must follow property standards which include all inspectable items and inspectable areas specified by the US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) based on the HUD physical inspection procedures, known as the Uniform Physical Condition Standards (UPCS) prescribed by HUD pursuant to 24 CFR Part 5, subpart G. Any and all deficiencies identified during annual compliance monitoring site visits of HTF-assisted properties must be cured. Commerce will monitor property condition standards using the same process and procedures as for the federal Low Income Housing Tax Credit Program which does not employ a scoring protocol or grade levels of deficiencies; all identified deficiencies must be corrected.

Rehabilitation projects (including redevelopment) must address any and all deficiencies identified in this section as part of the project's scope of work so that, upon completion, all such deficiencies are cured. For projects which include acquisition and/or rehabilitation of <u>occupied</u> housing, any life threatening health and safety deficiencies, identified in this section in ALL CAPS, must be addressed and corrected immediately.

Reference is made to the following HUD documents: "Uniform Physical Conditions Standards – Comprehensive Listing" and the "Dictionary of Deficiency Definitions, DCD Version 2.3" for Real Estate Assessment Center System Physical Assessment Subsystem, March 8, 2000.

Life threatening health and safety deficiencies include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Site propane/natural gas/methane gas detected; exposed wires/open panels; water leaks on/near electrical equipment.
- Building Exterior fire escapes with blocked egress/ladders or visibly missing components; exposed wires/open panels; water leaks on/near electrical equipment; emergency/fire exits blocked/unusable; windows with security bars that prevent egress.
- Building Systems misaligned chimney/ventilation system; missing breakers/fuses or missing electrical covers; missing/damaged/expired fir extinguishers; propane/natural gas/methane gas detected; exposed wires/open panels; water leaks on/near electrical equipment; emergency/fire exits blocked/unusable.
- Common Areas missing electrical breakers or covers; misaligned chimney/ventilation system; missing/broken outlets/switches/cover plates; missing/inoperable smoke detector; windows with security bars that prevent egress; propane/natural gas/methane gas detected; exposed wires/open panels; water leaks on/near electrical equipment; emergency fire exits blocked/unusable.
- Unit missing electrical breakers/fuses or covers; propane/natural gas/methane gas detected; exposed wires/open panels; water leaks on/near electrical equipment; emergency/fire exits blocked/unusable;

misaligned chimney/ventilation system; missing/broken outlets/switches/cover plates; missing/inoperable smoke detector; windows with security bars that prevent egress.

- A. Housing assisted with HTF funds must be decent, safe, sanitary, and in good repair. Owners of HTF-assisted property must maintain such housing in a manner that meets the physical condition standards set forth in this section in order to be considered decent, safe, sanitary, and in good repair. These standards address the major areas of the HTF-assisted housing: the site; the building exterior; the building systems; the dwelling units; the common areas; and health and safety considerations.
 - 1. Site: The inspectable items related to Site, such as fencing and gates, retaining walls, grounds, lighting, mailboxes/project signs, parking lots/driveways, play areas and equipment, refuse disposal, roads, market appeal, storm drainage, walkways, and steps must be free of health and safety hazards and be in good repair. The site must not be subject to material adverse conditions, such as abandoned vehicles, dangerous walks or steps, poor drainage, septic tank back-ups, sewer hazards, excess accumulation of trash, vermin or rodent infestation, or fire hazards.

Examples of observable deficiencies for inspectable items related to Site include, but are not limited to, the following.

- Fencing and Gates (both security/safety and non-security fences and gates): Damaged, falling, or leaning; Holes; Missing sections.
- Grounds: Erosion; Rutting areas; Overgrown or penetrating vegetation; Ponding or poor site drainage.
- Mailboxes/Project Signs: Missing or damaged.
- Market Appeal: Graffiti, Litter
- Parking Lots/Driveways/Roads: Cracks; Ponding; Potholes; Loose material; Settlement or heaving.
- Play Areas and Equipment: Damaged or broken equipment; Deteriorated play area surface.
- Refuse Disposal: Broken or damaged enclosure; Inadequate outdoor storage space.
- Retaining Walls: Damaged, falling, or leaning.
- Storm Drainage: Damaged or obstructed.
- Walkways/Steps: Broken or missing handrail; Cracks; Settlement; Heaving; Spalling; Exposed rebar.
- 2. Building exterior: Each building on the site must be structurally sound, secure, habitable, and in good repair. The inspectable items related to Building Exterior, which includes each building's doors, fire escapes, foundations, lighting, roofs, walls, and windows, where applicable, must be free of health and safety hazards, operable, and in good repair.

Examples of observable deficiencies for inspectable items related to Building Exterior include, but are not limited to, the following.

- Doors: Damaged frames, threshold, lintels, or trim; Damaged hardware or locks; Damaged surface (Holes, paint, rusting, glass); Damaged or missing screen, storm or security door; Deteriorated or missing caulking or seals; Missing door.
- FIRE ESCAPES: BLOCKED EGRESS OR LADDERS; VISIBLY MISSING COMPONENTS.
- Foundations: Cracks or gaps; Spalling; Exposed rebar.
- Lighting: Broken fixtures or bulbs.
- Roofs: Damaged soffits or fascia; Damaged vents; Damaged or clogged drains; Damaged or torn membrane; Missing ballast; Missing or damaged components from downspout or gutter; Missing or damaged shingles; Ponding.
- Walls: Cracks or gaps; Damaged chimneys; Missing or damaged caulking or mortar; Missing pieces, holes, or spalling; Stained, peeling, or needs paint.

- Windows: Broken, missing, or cracked panes; Damaged sills, frames, lintels, or trim; Damaged or missing screens; Missing or deteriorated caulking, seals, or glazing compound; Peeling or missing paint; SECURITY BARS PREVENT EGRESS.
- 3. Building systems: The inspectable items related to Building Systems, which includes each building's domestic water, electrical system, elevators, emergency power, fire protection, HVAC, roof exhaust system, and sanitary system must be free of health and safety hazards, functionally adequate, operable, and in good repair.

Examples of observable deficiencies for inspectable items related to Building Systems include, but are not limited to, the following.

- Domestic Water: Leaking central water supply; Missing pressure relief valve; RUST OR CORROSION ON HEATER CHIMNEY; IMPROPER ANGLE OF OR DISCONNECTED FLUE ON WATER HEATER; Water supply inoperable.
- Electrical System: Blocked access or improper storage; Burnt breakers; Evidence of leaks or corrosion; Frayed wiring; MISSING BREAKERS OR FUSES; MISSING OUTLET COVERS.
- Elevators: Not operable.
- Emergency Power: Auxiliary lighting inoperable; Run-up records/Documentation not available.
- Fire Protection: Missing/disabled/painted/blocked/capped sprinkler head; Missing, damaged, or expired extinguishers.
- HVAC: Boiler or pump leaks; Fuel supply leaks; General rust or corrosion; MISALIGNED CHIMNEY OR VENTILATION SYSTEM.
- Roof Exhaust System: Roof exhaust fan(s) inoperable.
- Sanitary System: Broken, leaking, or clogged pipes or drains; Missing drain, cleanout, or manhole covers.
- 4. Dwelling units: Each dwelling unit within a building must be structurally sound, habitable, and in good repair. All inspectable items of the dwelling unit (for example, the unit's bathroom, call-for-aid (if applicable), ceiling, doors, electrical systems, floors, hot water heater, HVAC, kitchen, lighting, laundry area, outlets/switches, patio/porch/balcony, smoke detectors, stairs, walls, and windows) must be free of health and safety hazards, functionally adequate, operable, and in good repair. Examples of observable deficiencies for inspectable items related to the Dwelling Units include, but are not limited to, the following.
 - Bathroom: Bathroom cabinets damaged or missing; Lavatory sink damaged or missing; Plumbing
 has clogged drains or faucets or leaking faucet or pipes; Shower or tub is damaged or missing;
 Ventilation or exhaust system is absent or inoperable; Water closet or toilet is damaged, clogged,
 or missing.
 - Call-for-Aid (if applicable): Inoperable.
 - Ceiling: Bulging, bucking, or leaking; Holes, missing tiles, panels, or cracks; Peeling or missing paint; Water stains, water damage, mold or mildew.
 - Doors: Damaged frames, threshold, lintels, or trim; Damaged hardware or locks; Damaged or missing screen, storm or security door; Damaged surface, including holes, bad paint, rusting, broken glass, or rotting; Deteriorated or missing seals on the entry door; Missing door.
 - Electrical System: Blocked access to electrical panel; Burnt breakers; Evidence of leaks or corrosion; Frayed wiring; GFI inoperable; MISSING BREAKERS OR FUSES; MISSING COVERS.
 - Floors: Bulging or buckling; Hard floor covering damage; Missing flooring tiles; Peeling or missing paint; Rotten or deteriorated subfloor; Water stains, water damage, mold, or mildew.
 - Hot Water Heater: MISALIGNED CHIMNEY OR VENTILATION SYSTEM; Inoperable unit or components; Leaking valves, tanks, or pipes; Pressure relief valve missing; Rust or corrosion.

- HVAC System: Convection or radiant heat system covers missing or damaged; Inoperable system; MISALIGNED CHIMNEY OR VENTILATION SYSTEM; Noisy, vibrating, or leaking system; Rust or corrosion.
- Kitchen: Cabinets are missing or damaged; Countertops are missing or damaged; Dishwasher or garbage disposal is inoperable; Plumbing has clogged drains, leaking faucets, or pipes; Range hood or exhaust fans are inoperable; Excessive grease buildup; Range or stove is missing, damaged, or inoperable; Refrigerator is missing, damaged, or inoperable; Sink is damaged or missing.
- Laundry Area: Dryer vent is missing, damaged, or inoperable.
- Lighting: Missing or inoperable fixture.
- Outlets/Switches: Missing outlet or switch; MISSING OR BROKEN COVER PLATE.
- Patio/Porch/Balcony: Baluster or side railings damaged.
- SMOKE DETECTOR: MISSING OR INOPERABLE.
- Stairs: Broken, missing, or damaged steps or handrail.
- Walls: Bulging or buckling; Damaged wall surface; Damaged or deteriorated trim; Peeling or missing paint; Water stains, water damage, mold, or mildew.
- Windows: Cracked, broken, or missing panes; Damaged window sill; Missing or deteriorated caulking, seals, glazing; Inoperable or not lockable; Peeling or missing paint; SECURITY BARS PREVENT EGRESS.
- 5. Common areas: The common areas must be structurally sound, secure, and functionally adequate for the purposes intended. The basement/garage/carport, restrooms, closets, utility, mechanical, community rooms, day care, halls/corridors, stairs, kitchens, laundry rooms, office, porch, patio, balcony, and trash collection areas, if applicable, must be free of health and safety hazards, operable, and in good repair. All common area ceilings, doors, floors, HVAC, lighting, outlets/switches, smoke detectors, stairs, walls, and windows, to the extent applicable, must be free of health and safety hazards, operable, and in good repair.

Examples of observable deficiencies for inspectable items related to the Common Areas include, but are not limited to, the following. Common Areas include Basement, Garage, Carport, Closet, Utility or Mechanical Room, Community Room, Halls, Corridors, Stairs, Kitchens, Laundry Room, Lobby, Office, Patio, Porch, Balcony, Restrooms, Storage Areas, Pedestrian or Wheelchair Ramps, Pools and Related Structures, Trash Collection Areas, or Other Community Spaces.

- Missing or damaged balusters or side railings.
- Cabinets missing or damaged.
- Call-for-Aid system (if applicable) inoperable.
- Ceiling: Holes, missing tiles or panels, cracks; Peeling or missing paint; Water stains, water damage, mold, or mildew; Bulging or buckling.
- Chutes: Damaged or missing components.
- Countertops missing or damaged.
- Dishwasher or garbage disposal inoperable.
- Doors: Damaged frames, threshold, lintels, or trim; Damaged hardware or locks; Damaged surface (holes, paint, rust, glass); Damaged or missing screen, storm, or security door; Deteriorated or missing deals on entry door; Missing door.
- Dryer Vent: Missing, damaged, or inoperable.
- Electrical: Blocked access to electrical panel; Burnt breakers, Evidence of leaks or corrosion; Frayed wiring; MISSING BREAKERS; MISSING PLATES OR COVERS; Inoperable GFI; Missing or broken outlets, switches, or cover plates.
- Fencing: Damaged or not intact.
- Floors: Bulging or buckling; Floor covering damaged; Missing flooring or tiles; Peeling painted surface; Rotten or deteriorated subflooring; Water stains, water damage, mold, or mildew.

- Graffiti
- HVAC: Convection or radiant heat system covers missing or damaged; General rust or corrosion; Inoperable unit or system; MISALIGNED CHIMNEY OR VENTILATION SYSTEM; Noisy, vibrating, or leaking.
- Lavatory Sink: Damaged or missing fixture.
- Lighting: Missing, damaged, or inoperable fixture.
- Mailbox: Missing or damaged.
- Plumbing: Clogged drains; Leaking faucet or pipes.
- Range Hood/Exhaust Fans: Excessive grease buildup; Inoperable.
- Range/Stove: Missing, damaged, or inoperable.
- Refrigerator: Missing, damaged, or inoperable.
- Shower/Tub/Sink: Damaged or missing.
- SMOKE DETECTORS: MISSING OR INOPERABLE.
- Stairs: Broken, damaged, or missing steps or handrail.
- Ventilation/Exhaust system inoperable.
- Walls: Bulging or buckling; Damaged surface, peeling or missing paint; Damaged or deteriorated trim; Water stains, water damage, mold, or mildew.
- Water Closet/Toilet: Damaged, clogged, or missing.
- Windows: Cracked, broken, or missing panes; Damaged window sill; Inoperable or missing lock; Missing or deteriorated caulking, seals, or glazing; Peeling or missing paint; SECURITY BARS PREVENT EGRESS.
- 6. Health and safety concerns: All areas and components of the housing must be free of health and safety hazards. The inspectable areas related to Health and Safety include, air quality, electrical hazards, elevators, emergency/fire exits, flammable materials, garbage and debris, general hazards, infestation, and lead-based paint. For example, the buildings must have fire exits that are not blocked and have handrails that are undamaged and have no other observable deficiencies. The housing must have no evidence of infestation by rats, mice, or other vermin, or of garbage and debris. The housing must have no evidence of electrical hazards, natural hazards, or fire hazards. The dwelling units and common areas must have proper ventilation and be free of mold, odor (e.g., propane, natural gas, methane gas), or other observable deficiencies. The housing must comply with all requirements related to the evaluation and reduction of lead-based paint hazards and have proper certifications of such (see 24 CFR part 35). For projects which include acquisition of occupied housing, life threatening deficiencies in areas of health and safety must be addressed and corrected immediately. Life threatening health and safety deficiencies are identified below by ALL CAPS.

Examples of observable deficiencies for inspectable items related to Health and Safety include, but are not limited to, the following.

- Air Quality: Mold and/or mildew observed; PROPANE, NATURAL GAS, OR METHANE GAS DETECTED; Sewer odor detected.
- ELECTRICAL HAZARDS: EXPOSED WIRES; OPEN PANELS; WATER LEAKS ON OR NEAR ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT.
- Elevator: Elevator is misaligned with floor by ¾ inches or more.
- Emergency Fire Exits: EXITS BLOCKED OR UNUSABLE; Missing exit signs.
- Flammable or Combustible Material: Improperly stored and secured.
- Garbage and Debris: Present indoors or outdoors.
- General Hazards: Sharp edges; Tripping; unsafe or missing handrails.
- Infestation: Insects, rats, mice, or other vermin.

document. The table serves as a guide for observable deficiencies that all HTF-assisted properties must remediate during rehabilitation activities and throughout the period of affordability as they are identified or reported. Additionally, the table prioritizes the immediate emergent deficiencies that must be addressed within 24 hours of identification and/or report.

To demonstrate compliance grantees must conduct initial, progress, and final inspections and submit inspection reports to document these tasks have been identified and work has been completed verifying the deficiency no longer exists. These reports will be submitted regularly during rehabilitation activities and annually during the period of affordability. Failure to address observable deficiencies in HTF-assisted housing may trigger repayment of HTF funds.

- 8. Compliance with state and local codes: These physical condition standards do not supersede or preempt State and local codes for building and maintenance with which HTF-assisted housing must comply. HTF-assisted housing must continue to adhere to those codes.
- **B.** Commerce is responsible for conducting physical inspections of HTF-assisted housing to determine compliance with these standards, and will conduct such inspections every one to three years at its sole discretion.

HTF Units: Observable Deficiencies and Rehab/Repair Standards - Type and Degree

All items in orange are Health and Safety Hazards that must be corrected immediately in any HTF-assisted project.

		Requirements for Site
	Observable Deficiency	Type and Degree of Deficiency that must be addressed
Fencing and Gates	Damaged/Falling/Leaning	Fence or gate is missing or damaged to the point it does not function as it should
	Holes	Hole in fence or gate is larger than 6 inches by 6 inches
	Missing Sections	An exterior fence, security fence or gate is missing a section which could threaten safety or security
Grounds	Erosion/Rutting Areas	Runoff has extensively displaced soils which has caused visible damage or potential failure to adjoining structures or threatens the safety of pedestrians or makes the grounds unusable
	Overgrown/Penetrating Vegetation	Vegetation has visibly damaged a component, area or system of the property or has made them unusable or unpassable
	Ponding/Site Drainage	There is an accumulation of more than 5 inches deep and/or a large section of the groundsmore than 20%-is unusable for its intended purpose due to poor drainage or ponding
Health & Safety	Air Quality - Sewer Odor Detected	Sewer odors that could pose a health risk if inhaled for prolonged periods
	Air Quality - Propane/Natural	Strong propane, natural gas or methane odors that could pose a risk of explosion/ fire and/or
	Gas/Methane Gas Detected	pose a health risk if inhaled
	Electrical Hazards - Exposed Wires/Open Panels	Any exposed bare wires or openings in electrical panels (capped wires do not pose a risk)
	Electrical Hazards - Water Leaks on/near Electrical Equipment	Any water leaking, puddling or ponding on or immediately near any electrical apparatus that could pose a risk of fire, electrocution or explosion
	Flammable Materials - Improperly Stored	Flammable materials are improperly stored, causing the potential risk of fire or explosion
	Garbage and Debris - Outdoors	Too much garbage has gathered-more than the planned storage capacity, or garbage has gathered in an area not sanctioned for staging or storing garbage or debris
	Hazards - Other	Any general defects or hazards that pose risk of bodily injury
	Hazards - Sharp Edges	Any physical defect that could cause cutting or breaking of human skin or other bodily harm
	Hazards - Tripping	Any physical defect in walkways or other travelled area that poses a tripping risk
	Infestation - Insects	Evidence of infestation of insects-including roaches and ants-throughout a unit or room, food preparation or storage area or other area of building substantial enough to present a health and safety risk
	Infestation - Rats/Mice/Vermin	Evidence of rats or micesightings, rat or mouse holes, or droppings substantial enough to prese health and safety risk

Mailboxes/Proje ct Signs	Mailbox Missing/Damaged	Mailbox cannot be locked or is missing
	Signs Damaged	The project sign is not legible or readable because of deterioration or damage
Parking Lots/Driveways/ Roads	Cracks	Cracks that are large enough to affect traffic ability over more than 5% of the property's parking lots/driveways/roads or pose a safety hazard
	Ponding	3 inches or more of water has accumulated making 5% or more of a parking lot/driveway unusable or unsafe
	Potholes/Loose Material	Potholes or loose material that have made a parking lot/driveway unusable/unpassable for vehicles and/or pedestrians or could cause tripping or falling
	Settlement/Heaving	Settlement/heaving has made a parking lot/driveway unusable/unpassable or creates unsafe conditions for pedestrians and vehicles
Play Areas and Equipment	Damaged/Broken Equipment	More than 20% of the equipment is broken or does not operate as it should or any item that poses a safety risk
	Deteriorated Play Area Surface	More than 20% of the play surface area shows deterioration or the play surface area could cause tripping or falling and thus poses a safety risk
Refuse Disposal	Broken/Damaged Enclosure- Inadequate Outside Storage Space	A single wall or gate of the enclosure has collapsed or is leaning and in danger of falling or trash cannot be stored in the designated area because it is too small to store refuse until disposal
Retaining Walls	Damaged/Falling/Leaning	A retaining wall is damaged and does not function as it should or is a safety risk
Storm Drainage	Damaged/Obstructed	The system is partially or fully blocked by a large quantity of debris, causing backup into adjacent areas or runoffs into areas where runoff is not intended
Walkways/Steps	Broken/Missing Hand Railing	The hand rail is missing, damaged, loose, or otherwise unusable
	Cracks/Settlement/Heaving	Cracks, hinging/tilting or missing sections that affect traffic ability over more than 5% of the property's walkways/steps or any defect that creates a tripping or falling hazard
	Spalling/Exposed rebar	More than 5% of walkways have large areas of spallinglarger than 4 inches by 4 inchesthat affects traffic ability
		Requirements for Building Exterior
Inspectable Item	Observable Deficiency	Type and Degree of Deficiency that must be addressed
Doors	Damaged Frames/Threshold/Lintels/Trim	Any door that is not functioning or cannot be locked because of damage to the frame, threshold, lintel or trim
	Damaged Hardware/Locks	Any door that does not function as it should or cannot be locked because of damage to the door's hardware
	Damaged Surface (Holes/Paint/Rusting/Glass)	Any door that has a hole that penetrates the full depth of the door, significant peeling/cracking/no paint or rust that affects the integrity of the door surface, or broken/missing glass

	_	-
	Damaged/Missing	Any screen door or storm door that is damaged or is missing screens or glassshown by an
	Screen/Storm/Security Door	empty frame or frames or any security door that is not functioning or is missing
	Deteriorated/Missing	The seals/caulking is missing on any entry door, or they are so damaged that they do not
	Caulking/Seals	function as they should
	Missing Door	Any exterior door that is missing
Fire Escapes	Blocked Egress/Ladders	Stored items or other barriers restrict or block people from exiting
	Visibly Missing Components	Any of the functional components that affect the function of the fire escapeone section of a ladder or railing, for exampleare missing
Foundations	Cracks/Gaps	Cracks in foundation more than 1/4 inches wide by 1/4 inches deep by 6 inches long that present a possible sign of a serious structural problem, or opportunity for water penetration or sections of wall or floor that are broken apart
	Spalling/Exposed Rebar	Significant spalled areas affecting more than 10% of any foundation wall or any exposed reinforcing materialrebar or other
Health and Safety	Electrical Hazards - Exposed Wires/Open Panels	Any exposed bare wires or openings in electrical panels (capped wires do not pose a risk)
	Electrical Hazards - Water Leaks on/near Electrical Equipment	Any water leaking, puddling or ponding on or immediately near any electrical apparatus that could pose a risk of fire, electrocution or explosion
	Emergency/Fire Exits - Emergency/Fire Exits Blocked/Unusable	The exit cannot be used or exit is limited because a door or window is nailed shut, a lock is broken, panic hardware is chained, debris, storage, or another condition blocks exit
	Emergency Fire Exits - Missing Exit Signs	Exit signs that clearly identify all emergency exits are missing or there is no illumination of the sign
	Flammable/Combustible Materials - Improperly Stored	Flammable materials are improperly stored, causing the potential risk of fire or explosion
	Garbage and Debris - Outdoors	Too much garbage has gathered-more than the planned storage capacity or garbage has gathered in an area not sanctioned for staging or storing garbage or debris
	Hazards - Other	Any general defects or hazards that pose risk of bodily injury
	Hazards - Sharp Edges	Any physical defect that could cause cutting or breaking of human skin or other bodily harm
	Hazards - Tripping	Any physical defect in walkways or other travelled area that poses a tripping risk
	Infestation - Insects	Evidence of infestation of insects-including roaches and ants-throughout a unit or room, food preparation or storage area or other area of building substantial enough to present a health and safety risk
	Infestation - Rats/Mice/Vermin	Evidence of rats or micesightings, rat or mouse holes, or droppings substantial enough to present a health and safety risk
Lighting	Broken Fixtures/Bulbs	10% or more of the lighting fixtures and bulbs surveyed are broken or missing
Roofs	Damaged Soffits/Fascia	Soffits or fascia that should be there are missing or so damaged that water penetration is visibly possible
	Damaged Vents	Vents are missing or so visibly damaged that further roof damage is possible
	Damaged/Clogged Drains	The drain is damaged or partially clogged with debris or the drain no longer functions
	Damaged/Torn	Ballast has shifted and no longer functions as it should or there is damage to the roof

	Membrane/Missing Ballast	membrane that may result in water penetration
	Missing/Damaged Components	Drainage system components are missing or damaged causing visible damage to the roof,
	from Downspout/Gutter	structure, exterior wall surface, or interior
	Missing/Damaged Shingles	Roofing shingles are missing or damaged enough to create a risk of water penetration
	Ponding	Evidence of standing water on roof, causing potential or visible damage to roof surface or
		underlying materials
Walls	Cracks/Gaps	Any large crack or gap that is more than ¼ inches wide or deep and 6 inches long that presents
		a possible sign of serious structural problem or opportunity for water penetration
	Damaged Chimneys	Part or all the chimney has visibly separated from the adjacent wall or there are cracked or
		missing pieces large enough to present a sign of chimney failure or there is a risk of falling
		pieces that could create a safety hazard
	Floors - Bulging/Buckling	Any flooring that is bulging, buckling or sagging or a problem with alignment between flooring
		types
	Floors - Floor Covering Damaged	More than 10% of floor covering has stains, surface burns, shallow cuts, small holes, tears,
		loose areas or exposed seams.
	Floors - Missing Floor/Tiles	More than 5% of the flooring or tile flooring is missing
	Floors - Peeling/Needs Paint	Any painted flooring that has peeling or missing paint on more than 10% of the surface
	Floors - Rot/Deteriorated	Any rotted or deteriorated subflooring greater than 3 inches by 3 inches
	Subfloor	
	Floors - Water Stains/Water	Evidence of a leak, mold or mildewsuch as a darkened areacovering a flooring area greater
	Damage/Mold/Mildew	than 1 foot square
	GFI - Inoperable	The GFI does not function
	Graffiti	Any graffiti on any exposed surface greater than 6 inches by 6 inches
	HVAC - Convection/Radiant Heat	Cover is missing or substantially damaged, allowing contact with heating/surface elements or
	System Covers Missing/Damaged	associated fans
	HVAC - General Rust/Corrosion	Significant formations of metal oxides, flaking, or discolorationor a pit or crevice
	HVAC - Inoperable	HVAC does not function. It does not provide the heating and cooling it should. The system does
		not respond when the controls are engaged
	HVAC - Misaligned	Any misalignment that may cause improper or dangerous venting of gases
	Chimney/Ventilation System	
	HVAC - Noisy/Vibrating/Leaking	HVAC system shows signs of abnormal vibrations, other noise, or leaks when engaged
	Lavatory Sink - Damaged/Missing	Sink has extensive discoloration or cracks in over 50% of the basin or the sink or associated
		hardware have failed or are missing and the sink can't be used
	Lighting -	More than10% of the permanent lighting fixtures are missing or damaged so they do not
	Missing/Damaged/Inoperable	function
	Fixture	
	Mailbox - Missing/Damaged	The U.S Postal Service mailbox cannot be locked or is missing
	Outlets/Switches/Cover Plates -	Outlet or switch is missing or a cover plate is missing or broken, resulting in exposed wiring
	Missing/Broken	
	Pedestrian/Wheelchair Ramp	A walkway or ramp is damaged and cannot be used by people on foot, in wheelchair, or using
	<u> </u>	

	walkers
Plumbing - Clogged Drains	Drain is substantially or completely clogged or has suffered extensive deterioration
Plumbing - Leaking Faucet/Pipes	A steady leak that is adversely affecting the surrounding area
Range Hood /Exhaust Fans -	A substantial accumulation of dirt or grease that threatens the free passage of air
Excessive Grease/Inoperable	
Range/Stove -	One or more burners are not functioning or doors or drawers are impeded or on gas ranges
Missing/Damaged/Inoperable	pilot is out and/or flames are not distributed equally or oven not functioning
Refrigerator -	The refrigerator has an extensive accumulation of ice or the seals around the doors are
Damaged/Inoperable	deteriorated or is damaged in any way which substantially impacts its performance
Restroom Cabinet -	Damaged or missing shelves, vanity top, drawers, or doors that are not functioning as they
Damaged/Missing	should for storage or their intended purpose
Shower/Tub - Damaged/Missing	Any cracks in tub or shower through which water can pass or extensive discoloration over more than 20% of tub or shower surface or tub or shower is missing
Sink - Missing/Damaged	Any cracks in sink through which water can pass or extensive discoloration over more than 10% of the sink surface or sink is missing
Smoke Detector - Missing/Inoperable	Smoke detector is missing or does not function as it should
Stairs - Broken/Damaged/Missing Steps	A step is missing or broken
Stairs - Broken/Missing Hand Railing	The hand rail is missing, damaged, loose, or otherwise unusable
Ventilation/Exhaust System - Inoperable	exhaust fan is not functioning or window designed for ventilation does not open
Walls - Bulging/Buckling	Bulging, buckling or sagging walls or a lack of horizontal alignment
Walls - Damaged	Any hole in wall greater than 1 inch by 1 inch
Walls - Damaged/Deteriorated Trim	10% or more of the wall trim is damaged
Walls - Peeling/Needs Paint	10% or more of interior wall paint is peeling or missing
Walls - Water Stains/Water Damage/Mold/Mildew	Evidence of a leak, mold or mildewsuch as a common areacovering a wall area greater than 1 foot square
Water Closet/Toilet - Damaged/Clogged/Missing	Fixture elementsseat, flush handle, cover etcare missing or damaged or the toilet seat is cracked or has a broken hinge or toilet cannot be flushed
Windows - Cracked/Broken/Missing Panes	Any missing panes of glass or cracked panes of glass where the crack is either greater than 2" and/or substantial enough to impact the structural integrity of the window pane
Windows - Damaged Window Sill	The sill is damaged enough to expose the inside of the surrounding walls and compromise its weather tightness
Windows - Inoperable/Not Lockable	Any window that is not functioning or cannot be secured because lock is broken
Windows - Missing/Deteriorated Caulking/Seals/Glazing	There are missing or deteriorated caulk or sealswith evidence of leaks or damage to the window or surrounding structure

	Compound	
	Windows - Peeling/Needs Paint	More than 10% of interior window paint is peeling or missing
	Windows - Security Bars Prevent Egress	The ability to exit through the window is limited by security bars that do not function properly and, therefore, pose safety risks
Health & Safety	Air Quality - Mold and/or Mildew Observed	Evidence of mold or mildew is observed that is substantial enough to pose a health risk
	Air Quality - Propane/Natural Gas/Methane Gas Detected	Strong propane, natural gas or methane odors that could pose a risk of explosion/ fire and/or pose a health risk if inhaled
	Air Quality - Sewer Odor Detected	Sewer odors that could pose a health risk if inhaled for prolonged periods
	Electrical Hazards - Exposed Wires/Open Panels	Any exposed bare wires or openings in electrical panels (capped wires do not pose a risk)
	Electrical Hazards - Water Leaks on/near Electrical Equipment	Any water leaking, puddling or ponding on or immediately near any electrical apparatus that could pose a risk of fire, electrocution or explosion
	Emergency Fire Exits - Emergency/Fire Exits Blocked/Unusable	The exit cannot be used or exit is limited because a door or window is nailed shut, a lock is broken, panic hardware is chained, debris, storage, or another condition blocks exit
	Emergency Fire Exits - Missing Exit Signs	Exit signs that clearly identify all emergency exits are missing or there is no illumination around the sign
	Flammable/Combustible Materials - Improperly Stored	Flammable or combustible materials are improperly stored, causing the potential risk of fire or explosion
	Garbage and Debris - Indoors	Too much garbage has gathered-more than the planned storage capacity or garbage has gathered in an area not sanctioned for staging or storing garbage or debris
	Garbage and Debris - Outdoors	Too much garbage has gathered-more than the planned storage capacity or garbage has gathered in an area not sanctioned for staging or storing garbage or debris
	Hazards - Other	Any general defects or hazards that pose risk of bodily injury
	Hazards - Sharp Edges	Any physical defect that could cause cutting or breaking of human skin or other bodily harm
	Hazards - Tripping	Any physical defect in walkways or other travelled area that poses a tripping risk
	Infestation - Insects	Evidence of infestation of insects-including roaches and ants-throughout a unit or room, food preparation or storage area or other area of building substantial enough to present a health and safety risk
	Infestation - Rats/Mice/Vermin	Evidence of rats or micesightings, rat or mouse holes, or droppings substantial enough to present a health and safety risk
Pools and Related Structures	Fencing - Damaged/Not Intact	Any damage that could compromise the integrity of the fence
Trash Collection	Chutes - Damaged/Missing	Garbage has backed up into chutes, because the collection structure is missing or broken, or
Trasti Collection		

Requirements for Unit

Inspectable Item	Observable Deficiency	Type and Degree of Deficiency that must be addressed
Bathroom	Bathroom Cabinets - Damaged/Missing	Damaged or missing shelves, vanity tops, drawers, or doors that are not functioning as they should for storage or their intended purpose
	Lavatory Sink - Damaged/Missing	Any cracks in sink through which water can pass or extensive discoloration over more than 10% of the sink surface or sink is missing
	Plumbing - Clogged Drains, Faucets	Drain or faucet is substantially or completely clogged or has suffered extensive deterioration
	Plumbing - Leaking Faucet/Pipes	A steady leak that is adversely affecting the surrounding area
	Shower/Tub - Damaged/Missing	Any cracks in tub or shower through which water can pass or extensive discoloration over more than 20% of tub or shower surface or tub or shower is missing
	Ventilation/Exhaust System – Absent/Inoperable	exhaust fan is not functioning or window designed for ventilation does not open
	Water Closet/Toilet - Damaged/Clogged/Missing	Fixture elementsseat, flush handle, cover etcare missing or damaged or the toilet seat is cracked or has a broken hinge or toilet cannot be flushed
Call-for-Aid (if applicable)	Inoperable	The system does not function as it should
Ceiling	Bulging/Buckling/Leaking	Bulging, buckling or sagging ceiling or problem with alignment
	Holes/Missing Tiles/Panels/Cracks	Any holes in ceiling, missing tiles or large cracks wider than 1/8 of an inch and greater than 6 inches long
	Peeling/Needs Paint	More than 10% of ceiling has peeling paint or is missing paint
	Water Stains/Water Damage/Mold/Mildew	Evidence of a leak, mold or mildewsuch as a darkened areaover a ceiling area greater than 1 foot square
Doors	Damaged Frames/Threshold/Lintels/Trim	Any door that is not functioning or cannot be locked because of damage to the frame, threshold, lintel or trim
	Damaged Hardware/Locks	Any door that does not function as it should or cannot be locked because of damage to the door's hardware
	Damaged/Missing Screen/Storm/Security Door	Any screen door or storm door that is damaged or is missing screens or glassshown by an empty frame or frames or any security door that is not functioning or is missing
	Damaged Surface - Holes/Paint/Rusting/Glass/Rottin g	Any door that has a hole penetrating the depth of the door, significant peeling/cracking/no paint or rust that affects the integrity of the door surface, or broken/missing glass
	Deteriorated/Missing Seals (Entry Only)	The seals/caulking is missing on any entry door, or they are so damaged that they do not function as they should
	Missing Door	Any door that is required for security (entry) or privacy (bathroom) that is missing or any other unit door that is missing and is required for proper unit functionality
Electrical System	Blocked Access to Electrical Panel	One or more fixed items or items of sufficient size and weight impede access to the building system's electrical panel during an emergency
	Burnt Breakers	Carbon residue, melted breakers or arcing scars are evident
	Evidence of Leaks/Corrosion	Any corrosion that affects the condition of the components that carry current or any stains or

		rust on the interior of electrical enclosures or any evidence of water leaks in the enclosure or hardware
	Frayed Wiring	Any nicks, abrasion, or fraying of the insulation that exposes any conducting wire
	GFI - Inoperable	The GFI does not function
	Missing Breakers/Fuses	Any open and/or exposed breaker port
	Missing Covers	A cover is missing, which results in exposed visible electrical connections
Floors	Bulging/Buckling	Any flooring that is bulging, buckling or sagging or a problem with alignment between flooring types
	Floor Covering Damage	More than 10% of floor covering has stains, surface burns, shallow cuts, small holes, tears, loose areas or exposed seams.
	Missing Flooring Tiles	Any flooring or tile flooring that is missing
	Peeling/Needs Paint	Any painted flooring that has peeling or missing paint on more than 10% of the surface
	Rot/Deteriorated Subfloor	Any rotted or deteriorated subflooring greater than 3 inches by 3 inches
	Water Stains/Water Damage/Mold/Mildew	Evidence of a leak, mold or mildewsuch as a darkened areacovering a flooring area greater than 1 foot square
Health & Safety	Air Quality - Mold and/or Mildew Observed	Evidence of mold or mildew is observed that is substantial enough to pose a health risk
	Air Quality - Sewer Odor Detected	Sewer odors that could pose a health risk if inhaled for prolonged periods
	Air Quality - Propane/Natural Gas/Methane Gas Detected	Strong propane, natural gas or methane odors that could pose a risk of explosion/ fire and/or pose a health risk if inhaled
	Electrical Hazards - Exposed Wires/Open Panels	Any exposed bare wires or openings in electrical panels (capped wires do not pose a risk)
	Electrical Hazards - Water Leaks on/near Electrical Equipment	Any water leaking, puddling or ponding on or immediately near any electrical apparatus that could pose a risk of fire, electrocution or explosion
	Emergency Fire Exits - Emergency/Fire Exits Blocked/Unusable	The exit cannot be used or exit is limited because a door or window is nailed shut, a lock is broken, panic hardware is chained, debris, storage, or another condition blocks exit
	Emergency Fire Exits - Missing Exit Signs	Exit signs that clearly identify all emergency exits are missing or the sign is not illuminated
	Flammable Materials - Improperly Stored	Flammable materials are improperly stored, causing the potential risk of fire or explosion
	Garbage and Debris - Indoors	Too much garbage has gathered-more than the planned storage capacity or garbage has gathered in an area not sanctioned for staging or storing garbage or debris
	Garbage and Debris - Outdoors	Too much garbage has gathered-more than the planned storage capacity or garbage has gathered in an area not sanctioned for staging or storing garbage or debris
	Hazards - Other	Any general defects or hazards that pose risk of bodily injury
	Hazards - Sharp Edges	Any physical defect that could cause cutting or breaking of human skin or other bodily harm
	Hazards - Tripping	Any physical defect in walkways or other travelled area that poses a tripping risk

	Infestation - Insects	Evidence of infestation of insects-including roaches and ants-throughout a unit or room, food preparation or storage area or other area of building substantial enough to present a health and safety risk
	Infestation - Rats/Mice/Vermin	Evidence of rats or micesightings, rat or mouse holes, or droppings substantial enough to present a health and safety risk
Hot Water Heater	Misaligned Chimney/Ventilation System	Any misalignment that may cause improper or dangerous venting of gases
	Inoperable Unit/Components	Hot water from hot water taps is no warmer than room temperature indicating hot water heater is not functioning properly
	Leaking Valves/Tanks/Pipes	There is evidence of active water leaks from hot water heater or related components
	Pressure Relief Valve Missing	There is no pressure relief valve or pressure relief valve does not drain down to the floor
	Rust/Corrosion	Significant formations of metal oxides, flaking, or discolorationor a pit or crevice
HVAC System	Convection/Radiant Heat System Covers Missing/Damaged	Cover is missing or substantially damaged, allowing contact with heating/surface elements or associated fans
	Inoperable	HVAC does not function. It does not provide the heating and cooling it should. The system does not respond when the controls are engaged
	Misaligned Chimney/Ventilation System	Any misalignment that may cause improper or dangerous venting of gases
	Noisy/Vibrating/Leaking	The HVAC system shows signs of abnormal vibrations, other noise, or leaks when engaged
	Rust/Corrosion	Deterioration from rust or corrosion on the HVAC system in the dwelling unit
Kitchen	Cabinets - Missing/Damaged	10% or more of cabinet, doors, or shelves are missing or the laminate is separating
	Countertops - Missing/Damaged	10% or more of the countertop working surface is missing, deteriorated, or damaged below the laminate not a sanitary surface to prepare food
	Dishwasher/Garbage Disposal - Inoperable	The dishwasher or garbage disposal does not operate as it should
	Plumbing - Clogged Drains	Drain is substantially or completely clogged or has suffered extensive deterioration
	Plumbing - Leaking Faucet/Pipes	A steady leak that is adversely affecting the surrounding area
	Range Hood/Exhaust Fans - Excessive Grease/Inoperable	A substantial accumulation of dirt or grease that threatens the free passage of air
	Range/Stove - Missing/Damaged/Inoperable	One or more burners are not functioning or doors or drawers are impeded or on gas ranges pilot is out and/or flames are not distributed equally or oven not functioning
	Refrigerator-	The refrigerator has an extensive accumulation of ice or the seals around the doors are
	Missing/Damaged/Inoperable	deteriorated or is damaged in any way which substantially impacts its performance
	Sink - Damaged/Missing	Any cracks in sink through which water can pass or extensive discoloration over more than 10% of the sink surface or sink is missing
Laundry Area	Dryer Vent -	The dryer vent is missing or it is not functioning because it is blocked. Dryer exhaust is not
(Room)	, Missing/Damaged/Inoperable	effectively vented to the outside
Lighting	Missing/Inoperable Fixture	A permanent light fixture is missing or not functioning, and no other switched light source is functioning in the room
Outlets/	Missing	An outlet or switch is missing

Switches		
	Missing/Broken Cover Plates	An outlet or switch has a broken cover plate over a junction box or the cover plate is missing
Patio/Porch/	Baluster/Side Railings Damaged	Any damaged or missing balusters or side rails that limit the safe use of an area
Balcony		
Smoke Detector	Missing/Inoperable	Smoke detector is missing or does not function as it should
Stairs	Broken/Damaged/Missing Steps	A step is missing or broken
	Broken/Missing Hand Railing	The hand rail is missing, damaged, loose, or otherwise unusable
Walls	Bulging/Buckling	Bulging, buckling or sagging walls or a lack of horizontal alignment
	Damaged	Any hole in wall greater than 1 inch by 1 inch
	Damaged/Deteriorated Trim	10% or more of the wall trim is damaged
	Peeling/Needs Paint	10% or more of interior wall paint is peeling or missing
	Water Stains/Water	Evidence of a leak, mold or mildew covering a wall area greater than 1 foot square
	Damage/Mold/Mildew	
Windows	Cracked/Broken/Missing Panes	Any missing panes of glass or cracked panes of glass where the crack is either greater than 2"
		and/or substantial enough to impact the structural integrity of the window pane
	Damaged Window Sill	The sill is damaged enough to expose the inside of the surrounding walls and compromise its weather tightness
	Missing/Deteriorated	There are missing or deteriorated caulk or sealswith evidence of leaks or damage to the
	Caulking/Seals/Glazing	window or surrounding structure
	Compound	
	Inoperable/Not Lockable	Any window that is not functioning or cannot be secured because lock is broken
	Peeling/Needs Paint	More than 10% of interior window paint is peeling or missing
	Security Bars Prevent Egress	The ability to exit through the window is limited by security bars that do not function properly and, therefore, pose safety risks

- 8. Compliance with state and local codes: These physical condition standards do not supersede or preempt State and local codes for building and maintenance with which HTF-assisted housing must comply. HTF-assisted housing must continue to adhere to those codes.
- **B.** Commerce is responsible for conducting physical inspections of HTF-assisted housing to determine compliance with these standards, and will conduct such inspections every one to three years at its sole discretion.

XVI. Disaster Mitigation

Housing assisted with HTF funds and which involve rehabilitation, reconstruction, or redevelopment be improved to mitigate the impact of potential disasters (e.g., earthquake, flooding, wildfires) in accordance with state and local codes, ordinances, and requirements.

XVII. Capital Needs Assessment

All housing assisted with HTF funds involving rehabilitation or redevelopment must commission a Capital Needs Assessment (CNA). HTF regulations at 24 CFR Part 93.301(b)(1)(ii) allow projects under 26 units in size to forego a CNA. However, in order to ensure that all needed rehabilitation work is performed so that, upon completion, the project will be decent, safe, sanitary, and in good repair, Commerce has chosen to establish requirements which exceed 24 CFR Part 93. All rehabilitation projects must commission a CNA; all gut rehabilitation must commission a PER/PAR, as applicable.

- A. The CNA must be completed by a competent, independent third party acceptable to Commerce, such as a licensed architect or engineer, as well as an interview with available on-site property management and maintenance personnel to inquire about past repairs and improvements, pending repairs, and existing or chronic physical deficiencies.
- **B.** The assessment will include a site visit and a physical inspection of the interior and exterior of all units and structures. The assessment will consider the presence of environmental hazards such as asbestos, lead paint and mold on the site.
- C. The assessment will include an opinion as to the proposed budget for recommended improvements and should identify critical building systems or components that have reached or exceeded their expected useful lives. If the remaining useful life of any component is less than 50 percent of the expected useful life, immediate rehabilitation will be required unless capitalized. If the remaining useful life of a component is less than the term of the HTF period of affordability, the application package must demonstrate sufficient periodic payments to a replacement reserve to finance the future replacement of the component.
- **D.** The assessment will examine and analyze the following:

- 1. Site, including topography, drainage, pavement, curbing, sidewalks, parking, landscaping, amenities, water, sewer, storm drainage, and gas and electric utilities and lines;
- 2. Structural systems, both substructure and superstructure, including exterior walls and balconies, exterior doors and windows, roofing system, and drainage;
- 3. Interiors, including unit and common area finishes (carpeting, tile, plaster walls, paint condition, etc.), unit kitchen finishes, cabinets and appliances, unit bathroom finishes and fixtures, and common area lobbies and corridors; and
- 4. Mechanical systems, including plumbing and domestic hot water; HVAC, electrical, lighting fixtures, fire protection, and elevators.
- **E.** Applicants are advised to also consider the requirements of other funding sources when ordering a CNA.

XVIII. New Building Design Requirements

- 1. **Laundry** Housing shall have access to laundry facilities and shall comply with the following requirements:
 - a. Common laundry is required unless laundry equipment is provided in each dwelling unit.
 - b. If common laundry, one (1) washer and one (1) dryer must be provided for every twelve (12) dwelling units. Provide folding table and seating area.
 - c. If laundry equipment is provided in each dwelling unit, stackable equipment is acceptable in non-accessible dwelling units.
 - d. Every clothes washer shall have a disaster pan with floor drain, or be located in a room with concrete flooring whereby the floor slopes to floor drain.
 - e. Avoid locating clothes washers near areas with carpeting.
- 2. **Elevator** Housing required to have an elevator shall meet the following requirements associated with an elevator:
 - a. The maximum length of travel from any dwelling unit to an elevator shall not exceed two hundred fifty (250) lineal feet.
 - b. The number of required elevators in each building shall be dictated by the number of stories above grade as follows:
 - 1. (3-5) stories above grade: one (1) elevator required.
 - 2. (6-9) stories above grade: two (2) elevators required.
 - 3. (>9) stories above grade: consult Commerce.
- 3. **Dwelling unit** Housing shall meet the following requirements associated with decent living space:
 - a. Living room

- 1. Least dimension shall be 11'-6" and appropriately sized for anticipated household size.
- 2. Must have window (or glass patio door) to exterior for natural lighting.

b. Primary or Master bedroom

- 1. Least Dimension shall be 10'-0"
- 2. Least square footage shall be 115 sq. ft.
- 3. Window to exterior for natural lighting.
- 4. Closet (5 lineal ft. of net rod/shelf length).
- 5. Door and walls to ceiling for privacy.
- 6. Exception: Efficiency Dwelling Unit/Single Room Occupancy (SRO)

c. Secondary bedroom(s)

- 1. Least dimension 9'-6".
- 2. Least square footage shall be 100 sq. ft..
- 3. Window to exterior for natural lighting.
- 4. Closet (4 lineal ft. of net rod/shelf length)
- 5. Door and walls to ceiling for privacy.
- 6. Exception: Efficiency Dwelling Unit/Single Room Occupancy (SRO)

d. Kitchen

- 1. Kitchen countertop work area.
 - a. Minimum length shall be 6'-0" measured along the front footage (excluding sink and appliances) for one bedroom
- dwelling units;
 - b. 7'-0" for two and three bedroom dwelling units;
 - c. And 8'-0" for larger dwelling units.
- 2. Snack bar or eat-in kitchen area. (Required in 3-bedroom and larger dwelling units.)
 - a. Snack bar shall be 4'-0" long (minimum).
- 3. Range/oven in all dwelling units.
 - a. All units with two or more bedrooms must be equipped with 30" wide range/self-cleaning oven.
 - b. All other units shall be equipped with 24" (min.) range/self-cleaning oven.
 - c. Avoid locating range in corner or at the end of the counter.
 - d. A protective shield must be provided for the section of wall directly behind all ranges and on any abutting partition.

Protective shields shall
either be high-pressure plastic laminate, enameled steel or stainless
steel.

- 4. "Frost Free" refrigerator/freezer with 15" minimum wide counter on latch side.

 14 cu. ft. (min.) for one bedroom and smaller dwelling units, appropriately-sized for intended household or larger dwelling units.
- 5. Hard-surface flooring.

e. Dining

- 1. Dining room/area designated with hard-surface flooring distinct from living room is required in 2-bedroom and larger dwelling units.
- 2. The dining room/area must be appropriately sized for the intended household size and accommodate the following:
 - a. 2-bedroom dwelling units: Table w/ four (4) chairs
 - b. 3-bedroom dwelling units: Table w/ six (6) chairs
 - c. ≥ 4-bedroom dwelling units: Table w/ seven (7) chairs
- 3. Must have window to exterior, or opening to living room.
- 4. Exceptions:
- a. An eat-in kitchen may be substituted for dining room/area as long as kitchen and dining area are appropriately sized for the intended household size plus two (2) guests.
- b. A 4' long snack bar located on rear side of kitchen countertop may be used in lieu of designated dining room/area in 1-bedroom and smaller dwelling units.

f. Bathroom

- 1. Definitions:
 - a. Full Bathroom: (vanity, water closet, and tub w/ showerhead)
 - b. (½) Bathroom or Powder Room: (vanity and water closet)
 - c. (3/4) Bathroom: (vanity, water closet, and shower)
- 2. A minimum of one (1/2) bathroom required at ground floor of any two-story dwelling unit.
- 3. A minimum of one Full bathroom required at 2-bedroom and smaller dwelling
- 4. A minimum of (1 3/4) bathrooms required at 3-bedroom and larger dwelling units
- 5. Any "Split" bedroom design (bedrooms on opposite sides of living room): At least a 3/4 bathroom adjacent to any bedroom to avoid having to travel through living space when traveling from bedroom to a bathroom.
- 6. In 3-bedroom or larger dwelling units, Commerce encourages main bathroom to be compartmentalized for simultaneous, multiple use.
- 7. Minimum Accessories:
 - a. Medicine cabinet (at least one per dwelling unit);
 - b. Towel bar(s) (within reach of lavatory and tub/shower);
 - c. Toilet paper holder;
 - d. Shower curtain rod (if applicable); and
 - e. Mirror

g. Storage space/closets

- 1. Entry coat closet is required for 1-bedroom or larger dwelling units.
- 2. Designated linen/towel storage space is required.

- 3. General storage space for household cleaning supplies, vacuum, etc. is required.
- h. Multi-Story Dwelling Unit Living Areas
 - Individual units with multi-stories shall have a kitchen/ kitchenette, living area, dining (or eat-in kitchen) on the same, main level. See Visitability Standards for additional multi-story unit requirements.

C. Mechanical and electrical systems – Housing shall have plumbing, mechanical, and electrical systems that comply with the following standards:

- 1. Independent technical analysis Commerce requires independent technical analysis of any or all building components to determine life expectancy and anticipated ongoing lifecycle costs, as well as a maximum of 10 year payback on energy-efficient investment premiums.
- 2. Utility incentives Commerce encourages exploring design options early in the design development phase to determine if any energy assistance program resources or other utility rebate options are available.
- 3. *Plumbing systems* Plumbing systems shall meet the following requirements:
 - a. All kitchen sinks shall be double compartment (33"x 22" min.), 7" deep minimum. Exception: Efficiency dwelling unit/Single room occupancy (SRO) with dishwasher may have single compartment sink.
 - b. Disaster drain pan with floor drain shall be provided under any water heater and clothes washer located above ground level.
 - c. Water softening is required where the hardness exceeds 14 grains except where special circumstances exist. The system must conform to the following:
 - Unsoftened water must be provided to all hose bibs and the cold water tap of each kitchen sink. All other water – hot and cold – is to be softened when water softening is required.
 - d. Plumbing chases and plumbing walls shall not be located in/at new building exterior walls. If required at existing buildings, chases shall be designed to keep plumbing from freezing.
- 4. Heating, ventilating, and air-conditioning (HVAC) system HVAC systems shall meet the following requirements:
 - a. Bathroom exhaust fans shall be ENERGY STAR-labeled and shall exhaust to the outdoors. Fans shall operate either continuously; or when the light is turned on; or with a humidistat and timer.
 - b. Exhaust ductwork for clothes dryers shall be rigid type and vented to outside.
 - c. Kitchen range hood shall meet the requirements
 - 1. By providing direct exhaust to the exterior; or
 - 2. By placing a recirculating range hood as part of a heat recovery central ventilation system.
 - d. Intake and exhaust ductwork located in unheated spaces shall be insulated.

- e. Air-conditioning shall be provided to all dwelling units.
- 5. Electrical systems Electrical systems shall meet the following requirements:
 - a. Ceiling or wall mounted light fixture in all bedrooms.
 - b. Task lighting above kitchen range and kitchen sink.
 - c. Each dwelling unit shall be capable of receiving hi-speed Internet access.
 - d. Exterior light fixtures and lamps shall be rated for -20 degree F weather.
 - e. Carbon Monoxide (CO) Alarms as required by 2006 state legislation.
- **D. Building components** Commerce encourages the advancement of green/sustainable building strategies, as defined by the U.S. Green Building Council [http://www.usgbc.org/]. The following building components shall also meet the following minimum standards:

1. Millwork

- a. All new kitchen cabinets and new wood bathroom cabinets shall have solid wood face-frames, doors, and drawer fronts.
- b. Drawer-box construction shall have dovetail or other reinforced joint construction.
- c. All millwork shall meet the Kitchen Cabinet Manufactures Association (KCMA)

 ANSI/KCMA A161.1 standards. KCMA Certification is suggested but not required.
- 2. Exterior windows and doors
 - a. All new windows and doors must be ENERGY STAR-qualified.
 - 1. ENERGY STAR regularly updates its requirements for qualification. The applicable version current for qualification at the time windows and/or doors are ordered/ purchased shall be applied.
 - 2. ENERGY STAR "Qualified" is based upon standards set for the region in which the window/door is being installed. The applicable region Montana shall be applied.
 - b. All windows and windows within doors shall be furnished with window coverings for privacy and control of heat/solar shading.
 - c. All operable windows and operable windows within doors shall have insect screens.
 - d. The sill of all windows must be solid wood, stone, or man-made solid surface material.

3. Roofing

for

- a. Low Slope Roofing
 - 1. Shall have a minimum of ¼" inch per foot (finished) slope unless otherwise approved by a qualified Architect and Building Code Official
 - 2. Approved Systems include 60 mil adhered EPDM & TPO, or 4 ply asphalt/gravel built-up assembly.
 - 3. Ballasted or mechanically fastened single ply membranes are not accepted.
 - 4. A Minimum 20-year manufacturer's warranty required.
- b. Sloped Roofing
 - 1. A minimum 25-year manufacturer's warranty is required.

- 4. Patio and entrance slabs All patio and entrance slabs shall comply with the following requirements:
 - a. Stoop/footing frost protection required at all entrance slabs.
 - b. Where soils are frost susceptible, stoop/footing frost protection required at all patio slabs.
 - c. ¼" per foot maximum slope.
 - d. Protect front entrance slab from rain/snow accumulation. (i.e.: overhang, canopy)
- 5. *Closet door* Conventional, residential grade, bi-fold doors and hardware package are not acceptable in new construction. Side-hinged or swing-type doors shall be provided.
- **E. Ineligible improvements** include, but are not limited to, the following:
- 1. Any furniture or other personal household items;
- 2. Payment, wholly or in part, of assessments for public improvements;
- 3. Construction of or improving existing garage space which will result in personal use garage space per property, exceeding 640 square feet and 2 stalls;
- 4. Construction of or aesthetic improvements to recreational facilities including, but not limited to, patios, gazebos, tennis courts, hot tubs, swimming pools, saunas;
- 5. Costs associated with a project which will be incomplete (i.e. framing in a room addition);
- 6. Greenhouse;
- 7. Improvements begun or purchase of property prior to date of award letter;
- 8. Improvements to portions of buildings or real estate owned by an association or condominium project;
- 9. New construction or expansion of an area used in a trade or business;
- 10. Playground equipment;
- 11. Repairs to or construction of outbuildings including, but not limited to, sheds, utility buildings, shops, barns, silos;
- 14. Underground sprinkler systems; and landscaping and sod, except for restoration of the site following an eligible activity, or for health, safety or accessibility reasons.